FILED MAY 3, 2013 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

No. 30256-3-III IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

vs.

VANCE L. BAKER,

Defendant/Appellant.

Appellant's Brief

DAVID N. GASCH WSBA No. 18270 P.O. Box 30339 Spokane, WA 99223-3005 (509) 443-9149 Attorney for Appellant

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The evidence was insufficient to prove the crime of second degree child molestation (count 2) as charged in the information.

The trial court erred in not allowing Mr. Baker to question
 L.L.B. about an incident in February 2008, when she called the police and
 falsely reported somebody was trying to break into her house and rape her.

3. The "to-convict" instructions erroneously stated the jury had a "duty to return a verdict of guilty" if it found each element proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

4. The trial court erred in imposing a variable term of community custody for 48 months as part of the sentence.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

 Should the conviction for second degree child molestation
 (count 2) be dismissed because the jury did not find the defendant guilty of the crime as charged in the information?

2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in excluding evidence of L.L.B. calling the police and falsely reporting burglary and rape when such evidence was relevant to the defense theory of the case?

3. In a criminal trial, does a "to-convict" instruction, which informs the jury it has a duty to return a verdict of guilty if it finds the

elements have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, violate a defendant's right to a jury trial, when there is no such duty under the state and federal Constitutions?

4. Did the sentencing court not have the statutory authority to impose a variable term of community custody for 48 months contingent on the amount of earned early release under RCW 9.94A.701, the statute authorizing the superior court to impose a sentence of community custody?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Vance Baker was convicted by a jury of two counts of first degree child molestation (Counts 3 & 4) and one count of second degree child molestation (Count 2). CP 265-67. The third and final amended information charged in Count 2 that Mr. Baker "during the time intervening between the 25th day of May, 2004, and the 24th day of May, 2007, in violation of RCW 9A.44.086, did engage in sexual contact with and was at least thirty-six months older than L.L.B. (DOB 5-25-1995), a person who was at least twelve years of age but less than fourteen years of age and not married to the accused . . ." CP 148.

The jury was instructed on count 2 in pertinent part:

To convict the defendant of the crime of child molestation in the second degree as charged in Count II, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That between May 25, 2007 and November 1, 2008, the defendant had sexual contact with [L.L.B.];

(2) That [L.L.B.] was at least twelve years old but less than fourteen years old at the time of the sexual contact and was not married to the defendant;

CP 253.

During the trial Mr. Baker requested permission to cross examine

L.L.B. about an incident in February 2008, where she called the police and

falsely reported somebody was trying to break into her house and rape her.

 RP^{1} 173, 175. Before issuing its ruling the trial court allowed defense

counsel to question L.L.B. outside the presence of the jury. RP 175.

L.L.B. admitted calling the police and admitted that the rape report was false. RP 175, 176-77. The Court excluded the evidence from the jury finding it had only slight probative value. RP 181.

The jury was given "to convict" instructions containing the language, "If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty." CP 253, 255, 256.

¹ RP refers to the three volumes of trial transcript reported by John McLaughlin held May 16-20, 2011.

The trial court imposed the following sentence of community

custody as part of his sentence:

(A) The defendant shall be on community custody for the longer of:

(1) the period of early release. RCW 9.94A.728(1)(2); or

(2) the period imposed by the court, as follows: . . .

48 months . . .

CP 299, ¶4.5.

This appeal followed. CP 308-09.

D. ARGUMENT

Issue No. 1. The conviction for second degree child molestation (count 2) should be dismissed because the jury did not find the defendant guilty of the crime as charged in the information.

The State must prove the essential elements of a crime. *State v. Byrd*, 125 Wn.2d 707, 713, 887 P.2d 396 (1995). If the State elects, even through inadvertence, to charge a defendant with different alternative of the crime than it intends to prove, that is what it has to prove. *State v. Goldsmith*, 147 Wn. App. 317, 324-25, 195 P.3d 98, (2008) (citing *State v. Bryant*, 73 Wn.2d 168, 171, 437 P.2d 398 (1968) ("It is axiomatic that the state has the burden of proving every element of the crime charged."). In *Goldsmith*, the State charged Mr. Goldsmith with child molestation in the first degree by the second of two alternative means. *Goldsmith*, 147 Wn. App. at 322, 195 P.3d 98. The State charged the second alternative means of committing first degree child molestation only. But it offered only evidence to show the first alternative means. *Id*. This Court held the State was required to prove the essential elements of the crime it charged. *Goldsmith*, 147 Wn. App. at 325, 195 P.3d 98.

The Court did not buy the argument that the problem was "merely a problem of notice." *Id.* It held that the information adequately notified Mr. Goldsmith of the necessary elements of the crimes the State says he committed. The State simply failed to prove those crimes. *Id.*, citing *State v. Brown*, 45 Wn. App. 571, 576, 726 P.2d 60 (1986) (finding that one cannot be tried for an uncharged offense). The Court went on to hold that the information adequately charged and notified the defendant of the essential elements of the crime the State charged, just not the elements that the State proved or that the court instructed on. *Id.* The fact that the court's instructions set out the correct elements of the crime does not resolve the problem. *Id.*, citing *State v. Holt*, 104 Wn.2d 315, 323, 704 P.2d 1189 (1985) ("an information which is constitutionally defective because it fails to state every statutory element of a crime cannot be cured by a jury instruction which itemizes those elements" (emphasis omitted)).

In *Goldsmith*, the State also complained that the defendant "sandbagged" the prosecutors, presumably by not complaining about the information when the State could have done something about it. *Goldsmith*, 147 Wn. App. at 326, 195 P.3d 98. But the Court held there is no authority for the proposition that the defendant has an affirmative obligation to notify the State that he did not commit the crime by the means charged, but that he did commit the crime by another means. *Id*.

Finally, the Court held that when the State charged one crime and proved another, it cannot now amend the information and again prove the same crime it proved during Mr. Goldsmith's first trial, as this violates constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy. *Id.* The proper remedy is dismissal. *Id.*

Turning then to the facts of the present case, RCW 9A.44.086 provides in pertinent part:

(1) A person is guilty of child molestation in the second degree when the person has, or knowingly causes another person under the age of eighteen to have, sexual contact with another who is at least twelve years old but less than fourteen years old and not married to the perpetrator and the perpetrator is at least thirty-six months older than the victim.

RCW 9A.44.086(1)

The jury was instructed on count 2 in pertinent part:

To convict the defendant of the crime of child molestation in the second degree as charged in Count II, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That <u>between May 25, 2007 and November 1, 2008</u>, the defendant had sexual contact with [L.L.B.];

(2) That [L.L.B.] was at least twelve years old but less than fourteen years old at the time of the sexual contact and was not married to the defendant;

CP 253 (emphasis added).

But the information charged that Mr. Baker engaged in sexual

contact with L.L.B, who was at least twelve years of age but less than

fourteen years of age, "during the time intervening between the 25th day of

May, 2004, and the 24th day of May, 2007." CP 148 (emphasis added).

Since the dates in the jury instruction differ from those in the information

by as much as four years, the jury did not find Mr. Baker guilty of the

crime as charged in the information. The time of the offense is a material

element to the charge of child molestation in the second degree, since the

victim must be between the ages of twelve and fourteen.²

As in *Goldsmith*, the State charged one crime and proved another. The problem is not a defective information or lack of notice. The

² Interestingly, LLB would <u>not</u> have been between twelve and fourteen during the time period alleged in the information.

information adequately notified Mr. Baker of the necessary elements of the crime the State says he committed. The State simply failed to prove that crime. As in *Goldsmith*, the State cannot now amend the information and again prove the same crime it proved during Mr. Baker 's trial without violating double jeopardy. Therefore, he proper remedy is dismissal. *Goldsmith*, 147 Wn. App. at 326, 195 P.3d 98.

Issue No. 2. The trial court abused its discretion in excluding evidence of L.L.B. calling the police and falsely reporting burglary and rape when such evidence was relevant to the defense theory of the case.

Mr. Baker's defense at trial was that he did not touch L.L.B. inappropriately and that L.L.B. fabricated the allegations of child molestation. See RP 345, 383-89. Mr. Baker sought to support his defense with a specific instance of similar fabrication where L.L.B. called the police and falsely reported somebody was trying to break into her house and rape her. This evidence was relevant to the defense and should have been admitted under ER 402.

Character evidence is generally inadmissible for the purposes of proving action in conformity therewith, subject to certain exceptions. ER 404(a); c.f., ER 404(a)(2) (making admissible "[e]vidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused..."), *State v. O'Connor*, 155 Wn.2d 335, 349, 119 P.3d 806 (2005) (quoting ER 608(b)) ("specific instances of a witness's conduct, introduced for the purpose of attacking his or her credibility, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence, but may 'in the discretion of the court, if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness, be inquired into on cross examination of the witness ... concerning the witness' character for truthfulness or untruthfulness.") In sum, this analysis under ER 608(b) considers whether the instance of misconduct is relevant to the witness' veracity on the stand and whether it is germane or relevant to the issues presented at trial. *O'Connor*, 155 Wn.2d at 349.

"As a general rule, evidence tending to establish the defendant's theory of the case, or to qualify or disprove the State's theory, is normally relevant and admissible." *State v. Sheets*, 128 Wn. App. 149, 156, 115 P.3d 1004 (2005), *review denied*, 156 Wn.2d 1014 (2006) (citing *State v. Harris*, 97 Wn. App. 865, 872, 989 P.2d 553 (1999) ("Evidence tending to establish a party's theory, or to qualify or disprove the testimony of an adversary, is always relevant and admissible.") To that end, the defendant must demonstrate the relevance of the evidence for it to be admitted. *Harris*, 97 Wn. App. at 872; ER 402. "Evidence is relevant and thus probative if it has 'any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable that it would be without the evidence." *State v. Cochran*, 102 Wn. App. 480, 486, 8 P.3d 313 (2000) (quoting ER 401)).

Here, Mr. Baker's defense was that no inappropriate touching occurred and that there was reason to doubt L.L.B.'s accusations. There were numerous inconsistencies in L.L.B.'s accounts to various people of what occurred that were brought out by defense counsel during the testimony and in closing argument. See e.g. RP 148-54, 200-01, 315-16. The evidence of L.L.B.'s false report of rape and burglary was relevant to support the defense theory of the case. Contrary to the trial court's ruling the probative value was not insignificant. Moreover, the incident of false reporting in February 2008 occurred during the same timeframe as the current offense. Accordingly, the trial court erred in refusing to admit this evidence.

Issue No. 3. Mr. Baker' constitutional right to a jury trial was violated by the court's instructions, which affirmatively misled the jury about its power to acquit.

As part of the "to-convict" instructions used to convict Mr. Baker, the trial court instructed the jury as follows: "If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty." CP 253, 255, 256. Mr. Baker contends there is no constitutional "duty to convict" and that the instruction accordingly misstates the law. The instruction violated Baker's right to a properly instructed jury.³

a. <u>Standard of review</u>. Constitutional violations are reviewed de novo. *Bellevue School Dist. v. E.S.*, 171 Wn.2d 695, 702, 257 P.3d 570 (2011). Jury instructions are reviewed de novo. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). Instructions must make the relevant legal standard manifestly apparent to the average juror. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

b. <u>The United States Constitution.</u> The right to jury trial in a criminal case was one of the few guarantees of individual rights enumerated in the United States Constitution of 1789. It was the only guarantee to appear in both the original document and the Bill of Rights. U.S. Const. art. 3, § 2, ¶ 3; U. S. Const. amend. 6; U.S. Const. amend. 7. Thomas Jefferson wrote of the importance of this right in a letter to Thomas Paine in 1789: "I consider trial by jury as the only anchor ever yet imagined by man, by which a government can be held to the principles of

³ Division One of the Court of Appeals rejected the arguments raised here in its decision in *State v. Meggyesy*, 90 Wn. App. 693, 958 P.2d 319, rev denied, 136 Wn.2d 1028 (1998), abrogated on other grounds by *State v. Recuenco*, 154 Wn.2d 156, 110 P.3d 188 (2005). Counsel respectfully contends *Meggyesy* was incorrectly decided.

its constitution." The Papers of Thomas Jefferson, Vol. 15, p. 269

(Princeton Univ. Press, 1958).

In criminal trials, the right to jury trial is fundamental to the

American scheme of justice. It is thus further guaranteed by the due

process clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. Duncan v.

Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 156, 88 S. Ct. 1444, 20 L. Ed. 2d 491 (1968);

Pasco v. Mace, 98 Wn.2d 87, 94, 653 P.2d 618 (1982).

Trial by jury was not only a valued right of persons accused of

crime, but was also an allocation of political power to the citizenry.

[T]he jury trial provisions in the Federal and State Constitutions reflect a fundamental decision about the exercise of official power -- a reluctance to entrust plenary powers over the life and liberty of the citizen to one judge or to a group of judges. Fear of unchecked power, so typical of our State and Federal Governments in other respects, found expression in the criminal law in this insistence upon community participation in the determination of guilt or innocence.

Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. at 156.⁴

c. Washington Constitution. The Washington Constitution

provides greater protection to its citizens in some areas than does the

United States Constitution. State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808

⁴ In *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, the majority saw this allocation of political power to the citizens as a limit on the power of the legislature. 112 Wn.2d 636, 650-53,771 P.2d 711, 780 P.2d 260 (1989). Two of the dissenting members of the court acknowledged the allocation of power, but interpreted it rather as a limit on the power of the judiciary. *Sofie*, 112 Wn.2d at 676 (Callow, C.J., joined by Dolliver, J., dissenting).

(1986). Under the Gunwall analysis, it is clear that the right to jury trial is

such an area. Pasco v. Mace, supra; Sofie v. Fiberboard Corp., 112

Wn.2d 636, 656,771 P.2d 711, 780 P.2d 260 (1989).

i. The textual language of the state constitution.

The drafters of our state constitution not only granted the right to a

jury trial, Const. art. 1, § 22,⁵ they expressly declared it "shall remain

inviolate." Const. art. 1, § 21.6

The term "inviolate" connotes deserving of the highest protection . . . Applied to the right to trial by jury, this language indicates that the right must remain the essential component of our legal system that it has always been. For such a right to remain inviolate, it must not diminish over time and must be protected from all assault to its essential guarantees.

Sofie, 112 Wn.2d at 656. Article 1, section 21 "preserves the right [to jury

trial] as it existed in the territory at the time of its adoption." Pasco v. Mace,

98 Wn.2d at 96; State v. Strasburg, 60 Wash. 106, 115, 110 P. 1020 (1910).

The right to trial by jury "should be continued unimpaired and inviolate."

Strasburg, 60 Wash. at 115.

The difference in language suggests the drafters meant something different from the federal Bill of Rights. See Hon. Robert F. Utter, <u>Freedom</u> and Diversity in a Federal System: Perspectives on State Constitutions and

⁵ Rights of Accused Persons. In criminal prosecutions, the accused shall have the right ... to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county in which the offense is alleged to have been committed

⁶ "The right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate"

the Washington Declaration of Rights, 7 U. Puget Sound L. Rev. 491, 515 (1984) (Utter).

The framers added other constitutional protections to this right. A court is not permitted to convey to the jury its own impression of the evidence. Const. art. 4, § 16.⁷ Even a witness may not invade the province of the jury. *State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 350, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). The right to jury trial also is protected by the due process clause of article I, section 3.

While the Court in *State v. Meggyesy* may have been correct when it found there is no specific constitutional language that addresses this precise issue, the language that *is* there indicates the right to a jury trial is so fundamental that any infringement violates the constitution. *Meggyesy*, 90 Wn. App. at 701

ii. State constitutional and common law history.

State constitutional history favors an independent application of Article I, Sections 21 and 22. In 1889 (when the constitution was adopted), the Sixth Amendment did not apply to the states. Instead, Washington based its Declaration of Rights on the Bills of Rights of other states, which relied on common law and not the federal constitution. *State*

⁷ "Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, not comment thereon, but shall declare the law."

v. Silva, 107 Wn. App. 605, 619, 27 P.3d 663 (2001), *citing* Utter, 7 U.Puget Sound Law Review at 497. This difference supports an independent reading of the Washington Constitution.

State common law history also favors an independent application. Article I, Section 21 "preserves the right as it existed at common law in the territory at the time of its adoption." *Sofie*, 112 Wn.2d at 645; *Pasco v. Mace*, 98 Wn.2d at 96; see also *State v. Hobble*, 126 Wn.2d 283, 299, 892 P.2d 85 (1995).

Under the common law, juries were instructed in such a way as to allow them to acquit even where the prosecution proved guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Leonard v. Territory*, 2 Wash.Terr. 381, 7 Pac. 872 (Wash.Terr.1885). In *Leonard*, the Supreme Court reversed a murder conviction and set out in some detail the jury instructions given in the case. The court instructed the jurors that they "should" convict and "may find [the defendant] guilty" if the prosecution proved its case, but that they "must" acquit in the absence of such proof.⁸ *Leonard*, at 398-399. Thus the common law practice *required* the jury to acquit upon a failure of proof, and *allowed* the jury to acquit even if the proof was sufficient.⁹ *Id*.

⁸ The trial court's instructions were found erroneous on other grounds.

⁹ Furthermore, the territorial court reversed all criminal convictions that resulted from erroneous jury instructions (unless the instructions favored the defense). See, e.g., *Miller*

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