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

II. ARGUMENT

1. THE MISTAKEN DATE IN THE THIRD
AMENDED INFORMATION WAS AN

ERROR, BUT ONE WITHOUT PREJUDICIAL
EFFECT, AND IS NOT SUFFICIENT
GROUNDS FOR REVERSAL.

It is clear from the chain of Informations filed in this case, as well

as the instructions given to the jury, and the victim's age, that the date

given in the Third Amended Information was in error. The victim turned

12 on May 25, 2007. (RP 123). The Third Amended Information

provided a date range of the 25th of May 2004, to the 24th of May 2007.

(CP 147-49). The charge of Child Molestation in the Second Degree

requires that the victim be older than 12 at the time of the crime. RCW

9A.44.086. As a result, the defendant could not be charged with Child

Molestation in the Second Degree for crimes in that time frame. The

question before the Court is if a mistaken date in an Information is fatal to

a conviction predicated upon that charging document.

The information provided the defendant with notice of all statutory

1 Unlessdated, "RP" refers to the trial transcripts of May 16-20, 2011, by Court
Reporter John McLaughlin.



elements of the crime. It reads:

That the said Vance Lynn Baker, in the County of Benton,
State of Washington, during the time intervening between
the 25th day of May, 2004, and the 24th Day of May, 207,
in violation of RCW 9A.44.086, did engage in sexual
contact with and was at least thirty-six months older then
L.L.B. DOB 5-25-1995, a person who was at least twelve
years of age but less then fourteen years of age and not
married to the accused, contrary to the form of the Statute
in such cases made and provided, and against the peace and
dignity of the State of Washington.

(CP 148).

Even with the wrong dates, the defendant was apprised of the

elements of the crime. The defendant argues that that the time of the

offenses is a material element of the crime, but that is clearly not the case.

The Statute does not require that the molestation take place within a

certain date range. Rather, it requires the victim to be between the ages of

12 and 14, which the Third Amended Information clearly states. (CP

148). RCW 9A.44.086.

In State v. Hayes, 81 Wn. App. 425, 433, 914 P.2d 788 (1996), the

Court very clearly ruled that time is not an element of crimes regarding

child sexual abuse. The defendant there made the same arguments that the

defendant in the current case makes.

The defendant relies heavily on State v. Goldsmith, 147 Wn. App.

317, 195 P.3d 98 (2008) in his analysis. However, Goldsmith is not on



point. Goldsmith deals with a very specific fact pattern. The State, in

Goldsmith, charged Mr. Goldsmith with a violation of RCW 9A.44.083.

Id. at 322. RCW 9A.44.083 is a statute that provides two disjunctive

means of committing the crime proscribed. In Goldsmith, through an

apparent error, the State charged the defendant with one, and only one,

means of committing a crime, and proceeded to only offer proofshowing

that the other means was the one actually committed. Id. As a result, the

Information was valid on its face, it simply charged a different crime than

the one the State actually proved. Id. This case is obviously different.

The defendant alleges that the time frame in the Third Amended

Information renders this crime a legally distinct one from that which was

proved. However, the defendant here was charged with an Information

that provided all the statutory elements of the crime, all of which were

proved at trial, and of which the jury were informed of. It also provided

information beyond the elements of the crime. For instance, the date

range of the crime, and that the crime took place in Benton County. Their

inclusion in the Information does not render them elements of the crime.

The State proved each and every element of the crime of Child

Molestation in the Second Degree, as charged, at trial. The error in the

dates had no impact upon what the elements of the crime were. As a

result, Goldsmith cannot be said to be controlling.



The Court has drawn a firm line between errors in a charging

document with regards to the elements, and errors in a charging document

with regards to extraneous information.

Convictions based on charging documents which contain
only technical defects (such as an error in the statutory
citation number or the date of the crime or the specification
of a different manner of committing the crime charged)
usually need not be reversed. However, omission of an
essential statutory element cannot be considered a mere
technical error.

State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 790, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995).

If the defendant could show some prejudice, the date might be

sufficient for reversal. However, the defendant cannot. The defendant's

defense was general denial throughout the case. The defendant elected to

proceed upon the theory that the victims, particularly L.L.B., were

untrustworthy, and that the jury should discount their testimony. (RP 114-

123). The defendant never indicated that he wished to present an alibi

defense, and never presented one. Nor was his defense predicated on the

State sticking to the dates listed. If his defense had been "I molested

L.L.B., but only in 2004 to 2007 as charged, and she wasn't 12," the State

would see some prejudice. However, that is not the case. Furthermore,

the previous Informations made clear what the actual charged dates were.

The defendant suffered no prejudice because of the technical

defect in the Third Amended Information. Neither Goldsmith, or any



other case demands reversal in this matter. Vangerpen establishes the rule

that generally, the exact error the defendant claims is insufficient to

reverse, without some further prejudice. The defendant has not argued

any such prejudice, and the State fails to see any established in the record.

2. THE EVIDENCE OF THE ALLEGED "RAPE

COMPLAINT" WAS PROPERLY EXCLUDED

UNDER ER 609.

The defendant argues that he should have been allowed to present

evidence of a prior rape complaint to attack L.L.B.'s credibility. From the

outset, the State will note that the defendant mistakes the court's ruling,

conflating the exclusions of extrinsic evidence of a reported rape, with the

exclusion of that testimony on cross examination of the alleged reporting

party. There were two separate rulings made at different times and on

different grounds. One ruling was that the defendant could not prove the

incident through extrinsic evidence. (RP 174). ER 608(b) indicates that

the judge was entirely correct to forbid the attacking of L.L.B.'s credibility

through extrinsic testimony or evidence of a particular event. (RP 174-

75). As State v. Harris, 97 Wn. App. 865, 873, 989 P.2d 553 (1999) held,

even in cases exactly like the one before the Court, extrinsic evidence is

not allowed to prove a particular act did not occur. As a result, the

defendant was stuck with the event as described by the victim, L.L.B. As

such, the ruling determining that the probative value of any questions



about this alleged rape report was the probative value of the testimony, as

L.L.B. gave it.

In short, the court did not rule that a false report of rape and

burglary would have had little to no probative value. Rather, the court

ruled that the testimony given by L.L.B. had no probative value as to her

truthfulness. (RP 181). A review of that testimony demonstrates why.

L.L.B.'s memory of the event was obviously unclear. (RP 175).

However, L.L.B. was able to give a brief summary of the event. In

essence, she never called the police. (RP 177). Her friend Dillon called

the police. Id. L.L.B. was communicating with Dillon on Instant

Messenger. (RP 179). L.L.B. told Dillon about some of the abuse Vance

Lynn Baker had subjected her to. (RP 179-80). Dillon then called the

police. (RP 180).

It became clear from the testimony that L.L.B. did not remember

the incident very well. Furthermore, it became obvious that the

defendant's characterization of it was false. Rather than L.L.B. lying, it

appears there was something in the nature of a miscommunication

between L.L.B. and Dillon. When that miscommunication was relayed to

the police, they immediately responded to her residence, where they

discovered no burglary or rape in progress. The court considered these



events, and concluded that they said virtually nothing about the credibility

ofL.L.B.

The defendant is correct in stating that evidence that proves the

defendant's theory of the case should be considered relevant. State v.

Sheets, 128 Wn .App. 149, 156, 115 P.3d 1004 (2005). However, the

evidence presented has to actually support that theory. It is not sufficient

for the defendant to argue that the evidence 'should' be something, and try

to use their view of what the evidence should say to admit it. Reviewing

the actual evidence the defense was attempting to present, it appears to

have no probative value whatsoever. The false report Mr. Baker wanted to

present was shown nowhere in the record.

3. THE WORDING OF THE 'TO-CONVICT'

INSTRUCTION WAS ENTIRELY CORRECT.

A. Nullification in the State of Washington
and the Federal System

The defendant argues that the 'to-convict' instruction informed the

jury of its rights and powers incorrectly. The defendant frames his

argument as a claim that the 'to-convict' instruction created a duty to

convict, when there was none. "The court's instructions in this case

affirmatively misled the jury about its power to acquit even if the

prosecution proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt." (Appellant's

brief, 34). The implication of his argument is that even when the jury

10



believes that the State has met its burden and satisfied the jury beyond a

reasonable doubt, the jury may still acquit. Jury nullification is defined as:

"Nullifcation is a juror's knowing and deliberate rejection of the evidence

or refusal to apply the law ... because the result dictated by law is contrary

to the [juror's] sense of justice, morality, or fairness." BLACK'S LAW

DICTIONARY 875 (8th ed.2004). State v. Elmore, 155 Wn. 2d 758, 761,

123 P.3d 72, 73 (2005). The defendant argues in favor of jury

nullification. There is no other term for a jury's refusal to convict when

every legal element of a crime has been satisfied beyond a reasonable

doubt.

The defendant's arguments are presupposed on the notion that the

jury has the right to ignore the laws of the State of Washington and the

instructions of the court, and do as they will. Jury nullification has long

been considered a power of the jury, but it is not a right of either the jury

or the defendant, nor has it ever been seen as something to be protected.

The jury, just as all the actors in the court room, is bound by the rules and

laws of the State of Washington, and may not do as it pleases. The

defendant requests that this Court overrule State v. Meggyesy, 90 Wn.

App. 693, 958 P.2d 319 (1998) and State v. Bonisisio, 92 Wn. App. 783,

964 P.2d 1222 (1998), and find the wording used in the WPICs

unconstitutional.

11



The defendant cites many cases which he claims show that the

power of nullification is a protected constitutional right. However, the

defendant's understanding is based on a fundamental misconception of

those cases. He mistakes the power of the jury to judge the facts of the

case entirely according to its view for the power to ignore the law and the

facts, deciding based upon moral or ethical rules. It is entirely the

province of thejury to determine the credibility of witnesses and the other

factual matters of the case. Morse v. Antonellis, 149 Wn.2d 572, 574, 70

P.3d 125 (2003). However, it is the duty of the court, through the

instructions, to provide the jury with the law. State v. Byrd, 72 Wn. App.

774, 780, 868 P.2d 158 (1994). When a jury believes that the State has

shown that a defendant committed an act the statute terms illegal beyond a

reasonable doubt, but elects not to convict, it engages injury nullification.

State v. Meggyesy, 90 Wn. App. 693, Footnote 8 (1998). This is

completely separate and distinct from the jury's power to say "the

evidence does not show that an element of the crime has been met, beyond

a reasonable doubt" no matter what that evidence might be.

The defendant cites State v. Primrose as showing that the jury has

the power to return a verdict of notguilty when the State has properly met

their burden. State v. Primrose, 32 Wn. App. 1, 645 P.2d 714 (1982). The

defendant misreads the import of that case. The facts of Primrose were

12



that the lower court gave the jury instruction: "As a matter of law the

defendant has not introduced evidence concerning a lawful excuse for his

failure to appear." Id., at 2. The Appellate Court decided this instruction

was improper, as it impermissibly removed the State's burden of proving

beyond a reasonable doubt that Primrose had no lawful excuse. Id. at 4.

Thus, it removed the ability of the jury to decide if the excuses presented

by the defendant were in fact lawful, as RCW 9A.76.170 required. Id.

The Court in Primrose decided for the jury that the excuses were not,

stripping them of their ability to evaluate those facts. Id. The 'jury's

pardon' or 'veto' referred to in the case is not the power of jury

nullification, but the right of the jury to resolve factual issues based upon

their view of the evidence, no matter the court's belief of how flimsy that

evidence is. Id. The jury is the trier of fact, and any intrusion into its

province as such constitutes interference with the jury trial right.

However, once the jury determines that a defendant has committed an

offense beyond a reasonable doubt, their duties as the trier of fact cease.

They do not have the right to then decide not to convict based upon their

personal feelings. That isjurynullification, and a violation of their oath to

the court.

The defendant also cites State v. Salazar, 59 Wn. App. 202, 796

P.2d 773 (1990) as creating a power of nullification. State v. Salazar is in

13



no way a ringing endorsement of nullification. The facts of Salazar are

that a trial court allowed the State to mention that a search performed on

defendant Salazar's automobile was based upon a warrant, over the

objection of the defense. Id. at 210. The court was worried that the jury,

if it believed that the search was without legal basis, would find convicting

on that evidence ethically difficult. Id. at 210-11. Thus, the court was

allowed to reduce the chance of nullification by admitting the evidence.

Id. at 211. The case in no way states that jury nullification is legal. The

point is simply that it is possible, and that the court's worries about it are

justified. Id. State v. Salazar mimics the federal systems position in most

regards. Rather than jury nullification being a protected right, it is

something the courts have a duty to reduce the chance of. Merced v.

Mcgrath, 426 F.3d 1076, 1079 (9thCir. 2005).

The defendant states that if there is a duty to convict, the court

lacks any means to enforce it. This is simply not true. If the court has

reason to believe a juror is involved injury nullification, the court has the

power to perform an investigation into the conduct. State v. Elmore, 155

Wn.2d 758, 761, 123 P.3d 72 (2005). If it is uncovered that a juror is

engaging in nullification, even during the deliberations, the court has the

power to dismiss the juror. Id. The evidentiary bar for the procedure is

high, butthis is not because of some respect for jury nullification. Rather,

14



the court requires specific proof that the juror's inability to convict is not

based upon factual matters. Id. at 771. The court has the duty and power

to prevent jury nullification where it may. Furthermore, the Washington

Pattern Jury Instructions contain the following admonition:

As jurors, you are officers of this court. You must not let
your emotions overcome your rational thought process.
You must reach your decision based on the facts proved to
you, and on the law given to you, not on sympathy,
prejudice, or personal preference. To assure that all parties
receive a fair trial, you must act impartially, with an earnest
desire to reach a proper verdict.

WPIC 1.02.

This instruction has been approved by the courts numerous times,

as invoking the juror's solemn duty to not invoke emotional sympathies or

such when making a decision. State v. Lord, 161 Wn.2d 276, 279

(footnote 2), 165 P.3d 1251 (2007). Thedefendant does not challenge the

propriety of giving this instruction. This, no less than the to-convict

instruction, charges the jury with a duty to decide the guilt of the

defendant based upon the facts as proved to them and the law given to

them. The language of WPIC 1.02 and the 'to-convict' language appealed

here are attempts to prevent jury nullification, reminding the jurors of their

oath to the court.

The Federal Courts are in accord with this view of nullification. It

is a power, not a right. E.g., Merced v. Mcgrath, 426 F.3d at 1079. It

15



arises out of the rights the defendant and the jury have, an unfortunate side

effect of the valuable goals the rights serve to protect. Id. Double

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